Safety Issues Regarding Colonic Cleansing for Diagnostic and Surgical Procedures

Larry E. Clark and Jack A. DiPalma

Division of Gastroenterology, University of South Alabama College of Medicine, Mobile, Alabama, USA

Contents

Αk	ostract	235
1.	Diet and Cathartics	236
2.	Gut Lavage	236
	2.1 Polyethylene Glycol Electrolyte Lavage Solution	236
	2.2 Sulphate-Free Polyethylene Glycol Electrolyte Lavage Solution	238
	2.3 Reduced-Volume Method	238
	2.4 Nasogastric Administration	238
	2.5 Elderly Patients	239
	2.6 Paediatric Patients	239
3.	Oral Sodium Phosphate	239
4.	Conclusion	240

Abstract

There are various methods available to cleanse the colon in preparation for diagnostic and surgical procedures. The popular options are diet and cathartic regimens, gut lavage and phosphate preparations. Each method has its own unique characteristics and safety profile. Diet and cathartic regimens are based on traditional methods of colonoscopy preparation and remain an acceptable and safe alternative for patients unwilling or unable to tolerate other bowel preparations. Gut lavage methods involve ingestion of 2–4L of osmotically balanced solutions containing polyethylene glycol, which have been shown to be safe and effective for colon cleansing, including for special patient populations with cardiac, renal or hepatic dysfunction. Phosphate preparations have also been shown to be safe and effective for colon cleansing and are generally better tolerated than counterpart gut lavage solutions. However, this method has safety concerns for some patients with cardiac, renal and hepatic dysfunctions.

Optimal cleansing of the colon for diagnostic and surgical procedures should be obtained by a preparation regimen that cleanses the colon with reasonable levels of patient tolerance and safety. Currently, the three popular choices for cleansing include regimens that use dietary modifications and cathartic laxatives, gut lavage or phosphate preparations. However, recently the US FDA has raised concerns regarding the safety profiles of bowel cleansing preparations. Even clinicians who do not regularly have to prepare their patients for diagnostic or surgical procedures should be aware of the unique characteristics of each method.

The aim of this review is to provide an overview of the methods available for colonic cleansing, with a focus on the unique characteristics, efficacy and safety profile of each preparation.

A Medline search was conducted from 1966 through January 2003 using the keywords and subjects 'colonoscopy', 'sodium phosphate', 'polyethylene glycol', 'adverse events' and 'safety'. Further related articles were found using the reference citations from articles identified in the Medline search.

1. Diet and Cathartics

Traditional preparations for colonoscopy cleansing consisted of clear liquid diets for 48–72 hours combined with laxatives and cathartics.^[1] Dietary restrictions ranged from 1 to 4 days resulting in poor patient compliance, patient intolerance and safety concerns about malnutrition. Elderly patients, in particular, had difficulties adhering to strict dietary regulations, which could lead to significant protein and calorie malnutrition.^[2,3] DiPalma et al.^[4] studied the effects of various diets in combination with laxatives and enemas. This study showed that 1–3 days of a diet designed to leave a minimal colonic faecal residue was as good as, or better than, diets

Table I. Popular colonic cleansing regimens

Cleansing method	Description
Diet and cathartics	
Diet	Clear liquids for 72 hours or 1-3 days of a diet designed to result in a minimal colonic faecal residue
Cathartic	Magnesium citrate or X-Prep®a liquid (extract of senna fruit)
Additional cathartic	Bisacodyl tablets and/or suppositories
Enema	Tap water enemas
Gut lavage	
PEG-ELS	GoLYTELY® Colyte®
SF-ELS	NuLYTELY® Half Lytely® (reduced-volume NuLYTELY® with bisacodyl)
Phosphates	
Oral phosphosoda	Fleet® Phospho-soda®
Phosphate tablets	Visicol®

a The use of trade names is for product identification purposes only and does not imply endorsement.

PEG-ELS = polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution; SF-ELS = sulphate-free polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution.

that only allowed clear liquids for 3 days. Furthermore, patients preferred the minimum-residue diet regimens. The diet was designed to leave a minimal colonic faecal residue with suggested foods for breakfast such as scrambled eggs, white toast with jelly, apple juice, water, tea or coffee. For lunch, bouillion soup and a white meat chicken or turkey sandwich was allowed. For dinner, bouillion, noncitrus juice, jello-type dessert, water, coffee or tea was suggested. No butter, mayonnaise, lettuce or cream was allowed.

Table I reviews the popular colonic cleansing methods. The diet and cathartic methods use laxatives and enemas. Bisacodyl and castor oil may be useful cathartics. However, patients commonly report cramping as an adverse effect.^[5] Lactulose should be avoided as it results in the production of potentially combustible gases that pose a risk during electrocautery. As with all cathartics, adequate hydration is necessary to prevent complications of volume depletion and subsequent electrolyte disturbances.^[5] A large, randomised trial studied senna in colonoscopy preparations, prospectively comparing doses of 300mg taken in divided doses with a dose of 150mg on the day prior to the examination.^[6] Acceptable preparations were seen in 97.3% of the patients using high-dose senna. Adverse reactions consisted mainly of abdominal pain and nausea in 11% of patients. However, there are no other large trials comparing senna with other popular forms of bowel preparation. Nonetheless, diet and cathartics remain a safe alternative for patients unable to tolerate other bowel preparations.

2. Gut Lavage

Orthograde gut lavage provides for rapid colon cleansing in preparation for colonoscopy, barium enema and colonic surgery. These are electrolyte and osmotically balanced solutions, which include polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution (PEG-ELS) and sulphate-free polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution (SF-ELS).

2.1 Polyethylene Glycol Electrolyte Lavage Solution

Davis et al.^[12] developed the osmotically balanced solution PEG-ELS for gut lavage. It was

found to be safe and effective. The most common adverse effects associated with its use are volumerelated symptoms of abdominal fullness, nausea and bloating^[13] (table II). Prior to the use of polyethylene glycol there had been reports of explosions during electrocautery.[14,15] For the most part, these solutions had contained mannitol, which when fermented by colonic bacteria, produced combustible gases such as methane and hydrogen. Polyethylene glycol solutions do not contain mannitol and, thus, do not produce the combustible by-products. Davis et al.[12] reported this lack of measurable combustible gases in PEG-ELS faecal suspensions. In addition, it has been shown that breath hydrogen measurements of the combustible gases methane and hydrogen after administration of PEG-ELS are below explosive concentrations. [4,16] However, there is concern that patient self-administered flavouring additives such as sweeteners may provide a substrate for the bacterial production of methane and hydrogen gas. For this reason, coupled with the knowledge that additives will alter the osmotic balance of polyethylene glycol solutions, patients should be instructed to avoid any self-administered additives. However, PEG-ELS and sulphate-free solutions do contain flavourings for palatability such as cherry, lemon-lime and orange, which have shown no production of combustible gases.[17]

Gut lavage preparations available before the introduction of PEG-ELS used saline or balanced electrolyte solutions, which often required upwards of 7–12L of volume administration.[18] Saline lavage can result in water absorption of up to 819 mL/hour resulting in a net water gain of up to 8L of fluid, whereas PEG-ELS has been shown to cause only minimal fluid shifts.[12] Because of these large volumes, electrolyte imbalances and fluid shifts, an osmotically balanced solution such as PEG-ELS became a safer alternative. Indeed, over a 3- to 4-hour period, standard administration of 3-4L of PEG-ELS was shown to result in only 190-250mL of fluid absorption.^[13] Davis et al.^[12] also demonstrated that electrolyte shifts are minimal. These results have been confirmed by others, showing that no significant differences could be found when comparing parameters such as electrolytes, BUN (blood urea nitrogen) levels, urine-specific gravity and patient weight between groups taking PEG-ELS and

Table II. Reported adverse effects of bowel preparations

<u> </u>	
Cleansing method	Adverse effects
Diet and cathartics	Electrolyte disturbances Dehydration
Gut lavage	Aspiration Allergic reactions: angioedema, urticaria, anaphylaxis Bleeding reactivation Volume-related symptoms: bloating, nausea, vomiting Esophageal tears Perforation Pill malabsorption Hypothermia
Oral phosphates	Electrolyte disturbances: hyperphosphataemia, hypocalcaemia, hypokalaemia, hypomagnesaemia Dehydration Renal failure Seizures Colonic aphthous ulcerations

those on a standard regimen of diet and cathartics. $^{[4,19-21]}$

There appear to be no toxicities associated with the oral ingestion of PEG-ELS.^[22] A study showed that patients ingesting PEG-ELS had no changes in urinary polyethylene glycol or sulphate levels, suggesting little if any absorption.^[23] After direct parenteral administration of PEG-ELS into animal models at doses of up to 90 mg/kg for 2–12 months, no adverse effects were seen and no abnormalities noted on either gross or microscopic examination of cranial, thoracic or abdominal organs.^[24]

Contraindications for PEG-ELS administration include cases of gastric outlet obstruction, high-grade small bowel obstruction, significant colonic obstruction, perforation, diverticulitis and haemodynamic instability. In cases of suspected incomplete obstruction a 1L trial of lavage can be administered under observation to ensure tolerance. In Gastroparesis should also be considered a relative contraindication for gut lavage preparation but a 1L trial may also be attempted. Allergies to polyethylene glycol compounds are a contraindication to PEG-ELS and SF-ELS. There have also been case reports of systemic allergic and urticarial reactions to polyethylene glycol solutions. In PEG-25.

Mallory-Weiss tears and bleeding reactivation have been reported with the use of gut lavage preparations. [13] However, studies support the safety and

efficacy of PEG-ELS administration in acute lower gastrointestinal bleeding.^[30-32] In cases of severe haematochezia, appropriate cleansing can be safely achieved with as little as 500mL of polyethylene glycol solution.^[22] Among patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and bleeding, PEG-ELS administration has also been found to be safe. Despite active disease, IBD patients given PEG-ELS solution showed no significant polyethylene glycol absorption.^[23]

Further adverse events include rare cases of reported hypothermia and lavage-induced pill malabsorption^[13] (table II). However, most pills that were recovered in these cases were found to only contain the waxy outer coating of the pill instead of the active medication itself.^[33,34]

2.2 Sulphate-Free Polyethylene Glycol Electrolyte Lavage Solution

Due to the common complaint of a disagreeable taste associated with PEG-ELS preparations, SF-ELS was developed, which eliminated the 'rotten egg' smell and salty taste caused by sodium sulphate. [35] SF-ELS was found to be both safe and effective when used as a preparation for colonoscopy, barium enemas and elective bowel surgery. [36-40] It has a different mechanism of action than PEG-ELS. SF-ELS results in less net movement of water or electrolytes than PEG-ELS. PEG-ELS relies upon the cleansing action of its osmotic gradient generated from its molecular weight and the electrochemical gradient generated by sodium sulphate. [5] In contrast, SF-ELS largely relies upon the osmotic potential of polyethylene glycol for its cleansing actions.

In a prospective trial, SF-ELS was similar to PEG-ELS with respect to safety, efficacy and patient tolerance. This study included a high-risk subset of patients with prior histories of cardiac, renal, diabetic or hypertensive disease. Only clinically insignificant changes in a few laboratory parameters were noted when comparing SF-ELS and PEG-ELS. Patients who showed a taste preference favoured SF-ELS.

2.3 Reduced-Volume Method

Gut lavage administration requires large volumes of liquid and volume-associated adverse effects are

common. Efforts have been made to develop an effective colonic preparation with a reduced volume lavage by the use of adjunct agents.^[41] Enemas have been shown to provide no additional benefit at the expense of increasing rectal trauma.[42] The prokinetic agents metoclopramide and cisapride were found to confer no benefits in reducing lavage amounts or the symptoms associated with its ingestion.[43-45] Trials with bisacodyl and magnesium citrate as pre-treatment agents have been promising. Sharma et al. [46,47] demonstrated similar efficacy of a reduced-volume (2L) lavage coupled with magnesium citrate as pre-treatment compared with a standard 4L PEG-ELS administration. Bisacodyl was also found to have similar success to magnesium citrate at reducing lavage volume.[48]

DiPalma et al. studied results of colonic preparation using a standard 4L of SF-ELS compared with a regimen consisting of 2L of SF-ELS and bisacodyl 20mg. [49] The prospective study of 200 patients showed similar efficacies of colonic preparation between the two groups. From a safety perspective, no clinically significant differences could be detected between the two groups in comparisons of weight, haematological and biochemical changes. The reduced-volume group experienced significantly less volume-related symptoms of fullness, nausea, vomiting and overall discomfort.

2.4 Nasogastric Administration

The administration of gut lavage through nasogastric tubes is an alternative reserved for patients unable to tolerate the standard oral administration. Because the majority of these patients are elderly with diminished mental states, decreased insight into their medical conditions or multiple other medical problems, there exists an increased risk of lavage aspiration with this route of administration. Patients needing nasogastric tube administration are often not closely monitored during lavage administration and they lack the necessary skills to notify staff of problems when they arise. A nasogastric tube has also been known to rupture the seal of the normal esophageal gastric junction, [50] promoting gastroesophageal reflux.

Of the six case reports of PEG-ELS aspiration complications, the common feature is the nasogastric tube administration.^[51-54] Two of these cases

involved administration in children whereas the rest were represented by adults unable to tolerate their solutions by conventional oral means. The aspiration resulted in adult respiratory distress syndrome and non-cardiac pulmonary oedema. In this series three patient deaths were reported.

The use of nasogastric tubes for administration should only be used under close monitoring. Tube placement in proper position should be verified and full aspiration precautions employed, including head of bed elevation during and after preparation administration.

2.5 Elderly Patients

In a study addressing age, 557 patients were stratified into two groups, >60 years and ≤60 years of age, all of whom received either PEG-ELS or a diet and cathartics preparation for colonoscopy, barium enema or elective colon surgery.^[55] Common symptoms of nausea, vomiting, cramps, abdominal fullness and overall discomfort were analysed. Those patients in the older age group reported significantly fewer cramps (p < 0.05) and no differences in overall discomfort than their younger PEG-ELS counterparts. Most patients reported minimal discomfort with either preparation across age groups. Older patients preferred the PEG-ELS method of bowel preparation by 81% compared with prior preparations. No differences were found in the adequacy of colon cleansing between the age groups.

A second study evaluated senior patients >75 years of age randomised to a laxative preparation or standard PEG-ELS lavage.^[56] The older patients showed greater tolerance for the laxative preparation with essentially no difference in efficacy.

2.6 Paediatric Patients

Traditionally, children have been prepared for colonoscopy using clear liquids for 48–72 hours, with laxatives and enemas the day before and morning of the procedure. Lavage with PEG-ELS has been shown to be safe and efficacious in the paediatric population. However, difficulties arise in patient compliance for the ingestion of large amounts of lavage solution. Oral sodium phosphates were compared with PEG-ELS in this population,

showing a greater degree of patient acceptance for the sodium phosphate preparations, though at the cost of greater degrees of hyperphosphataemia than the adult population. Dahshan et al. sylvation studied three preparations consisting of magnesium citrate with senna and clear liquid diet for 2 days, bisacodyl and phosphosoda enema without dietary restrictions and the standard 4L of PEG-ELS with a clear liquid diet for 1 day. PEG-ELS provided the best cleansing. However, the magnesium citrate regimen with senna was better tolerated with adequate cleansing.

3. Oral Sodium Phosphate

After the initial report of oral sodium phosphate for colonic cleansing by Vanner et al.[61] in 1990, phosphates have become an attractive alternative to gut lavage for colonoscopy preparation. This acceptance is largely due to the smaller amounts of solution required for ingestion, with a recommended dose of 45mL of oral sodium phosphate solution diluted with water and given at two intervals, 12 hours apart. The small volume is possible because of the high osmotic effects and hypertonicity of the solution, which contains 48g (400 mmol/L) of monobasic sodium phosphate and 18g (130 mmol/L) of dibasic sodium phosphate per 100mL.^[62] Numerous studies have supported oral sodium phosphate with respect to patient acceptance and efficacy equivalent to or exceeding that of large-volume PEG-ELS.[61,63-70] In addition, oral sodium phosphate tablets have recently been introduced with clinical trials supporting their efficacy and patient acceptance. [65,71,72] The recommended tablet dose is 40 pills taken with ten glasses of water.

Because of the small hypertonic volume of solution, concern exists for the safety profile of oral sodium phosphate. Hypovolaemia and electrolyte disturbances largely consisting of hyperphosphataemia and subsequent hypocalcaemia occur. Studies comparing orthostatic changes in volume between oral sodium phosphate and PEG-ELS showed essentially no differences, [61,70,73] and urine and serum osmolality have shown only minor intravascular contraction. [61,73]

Several studies have reported on the rise in serum phosphorus levels as a result of oral sodium phosphate ingestion, with subsequent falls in serum calcium levels. [61,65,68,70,73,74] In these studies the

lowest serum ionised calcium change was of 1.07 mmol/L.^[73] None of the patients in this reported series experienced clinical symptoms from hypocalcaemia or hyperphosphataemia and the authors suggest that such transient electrolyte abnormalities have little clinical relevance.^[73] However, it should be noted that the studies excluded patient populations with co-morbidities such as heart failure, renal failure, recent myocardial infarction and known electrolyte abnormalities.

Hyperphosphataemia may exhibit its effects by elevating the calcium-phosphorous solubility product (normally at 40) thereby causing soft tissue calcifications in various organs.^[75] DiPalma et al.^[74] found the mean peak solubility product to be elevated at 60.9 in a study of seven patients. In this study, significant rises in phosphorus and falls in calcium were seen and one study subject developed nephrolithiasis and renal colic.

Mechanisms for such hyperphosphataemia may include increased absorption from ileus or prolonged impaction, impaired renal excretion or excessive dosages of sodium phosphate. [76] Of the 13 case reports of adverse events from oral sodium phosphate colonoscopy preparation, seven were associated with improper dose administration. [77-81] Two of these seven cases resulted in fatal hyperphosphataemia or hypocalcaemia and renal failure, while the others were noted to have symptomatic electrolyte disturbances. Of the six reported fatal cases of oral sodium phosphate ingestion, all were associated with improper dose administration. [76,80,82,83]

There is less safety experience with the use of oral sodium phosphate tablets. The FDA has reported four cases of hyponatraemia and subsequent seizures associated with the tablet use.^[84]

Given the potential for complications and the lack of studies on selected patient populations with pre-existing co-morbidities, phosphates are poor choices for colonoscopy preparation in patients with cardiopulmonary, renal and hepatic diseases as well as in patients with pre-existing known electrolyte imbalances. A FDA safety review suggests obtaining baseline and post-treatment chemistry panel evaluations for patients taking oral sodium phosphate, particularly if the recommended dose is exceeded. [84] Despite these warnings, a study of

Canadian colonoscopists showed many to be unaware of these select high-risk patient groups and their potential complications as a result of oral sodium phosphate ingestion.^[85]

4. Conclusion

Effective colon cleansing is essential for a proper colonoscopic exam and several available preparations yield acceptable cleansing results. Diet and cathartics, phosphates and orthograde gut lavage have all been shown to provide effective cleansing with good overall safety profiles. Practitioners must be aware of select patient populations such as those with cardiac, renal and hepatic dysfunction, as well as those patients with pre-existing electrolyte abnormalities, in order to avoid potential complications from phosphate solutions. In addition, cases of possible bowel obstruction should be recognised prior to the administration of any regimen. All of the recognised bowel preparations should be given only as per the manufacturer's guidelines because of the potential complications of additives and inappropriate dose administration. Further research is needed in the field to provide a more palatable and better tolerated formula than existing preparations with similar high levels of safety. The choice of preparation must be made on an individual basis taking into account patient preference, compliance and co-morbidities to effectively cleanse the colon in the safest possible way.

Acknowledgements

Dr DiPalma serves as a consultant director for Braintree Laboratories, Inc., Braintree, MA, USA. Braintree Laboratories, Inc. manufactures GoLYTELY®, NuLYTELY®, Miralax™ and Half Lytely®. No sources of funding were used to assist in the preparation of this review.

References

- Neidich RL, Zuckerman GR. Patient preparation. In: Raskin JB, Nord HJ, editors. Colonoscopy: principles and techniques. New York: Igaku-Shoin, 1995: 53-82
- Gutwein I, Baer J, Holt PR. The effect of a formula diet on preparation of the colon for barium enema examination. Arch Intern Med 1981; 141: 993-6
- Bistrian BR, Blackburn GL, Vitole J, et al. Prevalence of malnutrition in general medical patients. JAMA 1976; 235: 1567-70
- DiPalma JA, Brady III CE, Stewart DL, et al. Comparison of colon cleansing methods in preparation for colonoscopy. Gastroenterology 1984; 86: 856-60

- Schiller LR, Emmett M, Santa Ana CA, et al. Osmotic effects of polyethylene glycol. Gastroenterology 1988; 94: 933-41
- Frigerio G, Imperiali G, Lenoci N, et al. High doses of senna for colon cleansing. Giorn Ital End Dig 1996; 19: 181-4
- 7. Crapp AR, Tillotson P, Powis SJ, et al. Preparation of the bowel by whole-gut irrigation. Lancet 1975; II: 1239-40
- 8. Rhodes JB, Zvargulis JE, Williams CH, et al. Oral electrolyte overload to cleanse the colon for colonoscopy. Gastrointest Endosc 1977; 24: 24-6
- Skucas J, Cutcliff W, Fischer HW. Whole-gut irrigation as a means of cleaning the colon. Radiology 1976; 121: 303-5
- Gilmore IT, Ellis WR, Barrett GS, et al. A comparison of two methods of whole gut lavage for colonoscopy. Br J Surg 1981; 68: 388-9
- King DM, Downes MO, Heddle RM. An alternative method of bowel preparation for barium enemas. Br J Radiol 1979; 52: 388-9
- Davis GR, Santa Ana CA, Morawski SG, et al. Development of a lavage solution associated with minimal water and electrolyte absorption or secretion. Gastroenterology 1980; 78: 991-5
- DiPalma JA, Brady CE. Colon cleansing for diagnostic and surgical procedures: polyethylene glycol-electrolyte lavage solution. Am J Gastroenterol 1989; 84: 1008-16
- Bigard MA, Gaucher P, Lassalle C. Fatal colonic explosion during colonoscopic polypectomy. Gastroenterology 1979; 77: 1307-10
- Bond JH, Levitt MD. Colonic gas explosion: is a fire extinguisher necessary? Gastroenterology 1979; 77: 1349-50
- Toledo TK, DiPalma JA. Review article: colon cleansing preparation for gastrointestinal procedures. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2001; 15: 605-11
- Berry MA, DiPalma JA. Controlled comparison gas changes from cherry flavored and unflavored sulfate-free electrolyte lavage solutions [abstract]. Gastroenterology 1995; 108: A5
- Levy AG, Benson JW, Hewlett EL, et al. Saline lavage: a rapid, effective, and acceptable method for cleansing the gastrointestinal tract. Gastroenterology 1976; 70: 57-61
- Goldman J, Reichelderfer M. Evaluation of rapid colonoscopy preparation using a new gut lavage solution. Gastrointest Endosc 1982; 28: 9-11
- Beck DE, Harford FJ, DiPalma JA. Comparison of cleansing methods in preparation for colonic surgery. Dis Colon Rectum 1985; 28: 491-5
- Tolia V, Fleming S, Dubois RS. Use of GoLytely in children and adolescents. J Pediatr Gastrointerol Nutr 1984; 3: 468-70
- Berry MA, DiPalma JA. Review article: orthograde gut lavage for colonoscopy. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1994; 8: 391-5
- Brady CE, DiPalma JA, Morawski SG, et al. Urinary excretion of polyethylene glycol 3350 and sulfate after gut lavage with a polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution. Gastroenterology 1986: 90: 1914-8
- Smyth HF, Carpenter CP, Weil OS. The toxicity of the polyethylene glycols. J Am Pharm Assoc 1950; 39: 349-54
- DiPalma JA, Brady III CE. On the safety of GoLytely. Gastroenterology 1984; 86: 215-6
- Stollman N, Manten HD. Angioedema from oral polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution. Gastrointest Endosc 1996; 44: 209-10
- Schuman E, Balsam PE. Probable anaphylactic reaction to polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution [letter]. Gastrointest Endosc 1991; 37: 411
- Brullet E, Moron A, Calvet X, et al. Urticarial reaction to oral polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution. Gastrointest Endosc 1992; 38: 400-1
- Coschieri M, Philippon A, Longo F, et al. Urticaria after ingestion of polyethylene glycol [letter]. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 1994; 18: 538

- Jensen DM, Machicado GA. Diagnosis and treatment of severe hematochezia: the role of urgent colonoscopy after purge. Gastroenterology 1988; 95: 1569-74
- Caos A, Benner KG, Manier J, et al. Colonoscopy after Golytely preparation in acute rectal bleeding. J Clin Gastroenterol 1986; 8: 46-9
- Schuman BM. When should colonoscopy be the first study for active lower intestinal hemorrhage? Gastrointest Endosc 1984; 30: 372-3
- 33. Foutch PG, Fleischer D. Lavage-induced pill malabsorption [letter]. Gastrointest Endosc 1984; 30: 116
- 34. Shah A, Scheinert SL. Medication washout [letter]. Gastrointest Endosc 1985; 31: 291
- Fordtran JS, Santa Ana CA, Cleveland MvB. A low-sodium solution for gastrointestinal lavage. Gastroenterology 1990; 98: 11-6
- Tomlinson TL, DiPalma JA, Mangano FA. Comparison of a new colon lavage solution (GoLytely-RSS) with a standard preparation for air-contrast barium enema. Am J Roentgenol 1988; 151: 947-50
- DiPalma JA, Marshall JB. Comparison of a new sulfate-free polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution versus a standard solution for colonoscopy cleansing. Gastrointest Endosc 1990; 36: 285-9
- Froehlich F, Fried M, Schnegg JF, et al. Palatability of a new solution compared with standard polyethylene glycol solution for gastrointestinal lavage. Gastrointest Endosc 1991; 37: 325-8
- Beck DE, DiPalma JA. A new oral lavage solution vs cathartics and enema method for preoperative colonic cleansing. Arch Surg 1991; 126: 552-5
- Froehlich F, Fried M, Schnegg JF, et al. Low sodium solution for colonic cleansing: a double-blind, controlled, randomized prospective study. Gastrointest Endosc 1992; 38: 579-81
- Ziegenhagen DJ, Zehnter E, Tacke W, et al. Senna vs bisacodyl in addition to Golytely lavage for colonoscopy preparation: a prospective randomized trial. Z Gastroenterol 1992; 30: 17-9
- 42. Lever EL, Walter MH, Condon SC, et al. Addition of enemas to oral lavage preparation for colonoscopy is not necessary. Gastrointest Endosc 1992; 38: 369-72
- Rhodes JB, Engstrom J, Stone KF. Metoclopramide reduces the distress associated with colon cleansing by an oral electrolyte overload. Gastrointest Endosc 1978; 24: 162-3
- Brady III CE, DiPalma JA, Pierson WP. GoLytely lavage: is metoclopramide necessary? Am J Gastroenterol 1985; 80: 180-4
- Reiser JR, Rosman AS, Rajendran SK, et al. The effects of cisapride on the quality and tolerance of colonic lavage: a double-blind randomized study. Gastrointest Endosc 1995; 41: 481-4
- 46. Sharma VK, Chockalingham SK, Ugheoke EA, et al. Prospective, randomized, controlled comparison of the use of polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution in four-liter versus two-liter volumes and pretreatment with either magnesium citrate or bisacodyl for colonoscopy preparation. Gastrointest Endosc 1998; 47: 167-71
- 47. Sharma VK, Steinberg EN, Vasudeva R, et al. Randomized, controlled study of pretreatment with magnesium citrate on the quality of colonoscopy preparation with polyethylene glycol electrolyte lavage solution. Gastrointest Endosc 1997; 46: 541-3
- Adams WJ, Meagher AP, Lubowski DZ, et al. Bisacodyl reduces the volume of polyethylene glycol solution required for bowel preparation. Dis Colon Rectum 1994; 37: 229-33
- DiPalma JA, Wolff BG, Meagher A, et al. Comparison of reduced volume versus four liters sulfate-free electrolyte lavage solutions for colonoscopy colon cleansing. AM J Gastroenterol 2003; 98: 2187-91

- Ibanez J, Penafiel A, Marse P, et al. Incidence of gastroesophageal reflux and aspiration in mechanically ventilated patients using small-bore nasogastric tubes. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2000; 24: 103-6
- Argent A, Hatherill M, Reynolds L, et al. Fulminant pulmonary oedema after administration of a balanced electrolyte polyethylene glycol solution. Arch Dis Child 2002; 86: 209
- Marschall HU, Bartels F. Life-threatening complications of nasogastric administration of polyethylene glycol-electrolyte solutions (GoLYTELY) for bowel cleansing. Gastrointest Endosc 1998; 47: 408-10
- Paap CM, Ehrlich R. Acute pulmonary edema after polyethylene glycol intestinal lavage in a child. Ann Pharmacother 1993; 27: 1044-7
- Lutz P, Mason R. Aspiration complications following nasogastric administration of polyethylene glycol (PEG) solution. Pract Gastroenterol 2002; 26: 26-33
- DiPalma JA, Brady III CE, Pierson WP. Colon cleansing: acceptance by older patients. Am J Gastroenterol 1986; 81: 652-5
- Lashner BA, Winans CS, Blackstone MO. Randomized clinical trial of two colonoscopy preparation methods for elderly patients. J Clin Gastroenterol 1990; 12: 405-8
- Wyllie R, Kay MH. Colonoscopy and therapeutic intervention in infants and children. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am 1994; 4: 143-60
- Sondheimer JM, Sokol RJ, Taylor SF, et al. Safety, efficacy, and tolerance of intestinal lavage in pediatric patients undergoing diagnostic colonoscopy. J Pediatr 1991; 119: 148-52
- Dahshan A, Lin C, Peters J, et al. A randomized, prospective study to evaluate the efficacy and acceptance of three bowel preparations for colonoscopy in children. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94: 3497-501
- Gremse DA, Sacks AI, Raines S. Comparison of oral sodium phosphate to polyethylene glycol-based solution for bowel preparation for colonoscopy in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1996; 23: 586-90
- Vanner SJ, MacDonald PH, Paterson WG, et al. A randomized prospective trial comparing oral sodium phosphate with standard polyethylene glycol-based lavage solution (GoLytely) in the preparation of patients for colonoscopy. Am J Gastroenterol 1990; 85: 422-7
- Schiller LR. Clinical pharmacology and use of laxatives and lavage solutions. J Clin Gastroenterol 1999; 28: 11-8
- Frommer D. Cleansing ability and tolerance of three bowel preparations for colonoscopy. Dis Colon Rectum 1997; 40: 100-4
- Marshall JB, Pineda JJ, Barthel JS, et al. Prospective, randomized trial comparing sodium phosphate solution with polyethylene glycol-electrolyte lavage for colonoscopy preparation. Gastrointest Endosc 1993; 39: 631-4
- Aronchick CA, Lipshutz WH, Wright SH, et al. A novel tableted purgative for colonoscopic preparation: efficacy and safety comparisons with Colyte and Fleet Phospho-Soda. Gastrointest Endosc 2000; 52: 346-52
- 66. Kolts BE, Lyles WE, Achem SR, et al. A comparison of the effectiveness and patient tolerance of oral sodium phosphate, castor oil, and standard electrolyte lavage for colonoscopy or sigmoidoscopy preparation. Am J Gastroenterol 1993; 88: 1218-23
- Henderson JM, Bartlett JL, Turgeon DK, et al. Single-day, divided-dose oral sodium phosphate laxative versus intestinal lavage as preparation for colonoscopy: efficacy and patient tolerance. Gastrointest Endosc 1995; 42: 238-43
- Cohen SM, Wexner SD, Binderow SR, et al. Prospective, randomized, endoscopic-blinded trial comparing precolonoscopy bowel cleansing methods. Dis Colon Rectum 1994; 37: 689-96

- Young CJ, Simpson RR, King DW, et al. Oral sodium phosphate solution is a superior colonoscopy preparation to polyethylene glycol with bisacodyl. Dis Colon Rectum 2000; 43: 1568-71
- Thomson A, Naidoo P, Crotty B. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy: a randomized prospective trial comparing sodium phosphate and polyethylene glycol in a predominantly elderly population. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1996; 11: 103-7
- Kastenberg D, Chasen R, Choudhary C, et al. Efficacy and safety of sodium phosphate tablets compared with PEG solution in colon cleansing: two identically designed, randomized, controlled, parallel group, multicenter phase III trials. Gastrointest Endosc 2001; 54: 705-13
- Kastenberg D, Choudhary C, Weiss E, et al. Sodium phosphate tablets (INKP-100 Diacol) are safe and effective as a purgative for colonoscopy [abstract]. Am J Gastroenterol 1999; 94: 2673
- Huynh T, Vanner S, Paterson W. Safety profile of 5-h oral sodium phosphate regimen for colonoscopy cleansing: lack of clinically significant hypocalcemia or hypovolemia. Am J Gastroenterol 1995; 90: 104-7
- DiPalma JA, Buckley SE, Warner BA, et al. Biochemical effects of oral sodium phosphate. Dig Dis Sci 1996; 41: 749-53
- Warner BA, DiPalma JA. Oral sodium phosphate catharsis: 'first do no harm'. Am J Gastroenterol 1994; 89: 1118-9
- Fass R, Do S, Hixson LJ. Fatal hyperphosphatemia following Fleet Phospho-Soda in a patient with colonic ileus. Am J Gastroenterol 1993; 88: 929-32
- Filho AJ, Lassman MN. Severe hyperphosphatemia induced by a phosphate-containing oral laxative. Ann Pharmacother 1996; 30: 141-3
- Escalante CP, Weiser MA, Finkel K. Hyperphosphatemia associated with phosphorous-containing laxatives in a patient with chronic renal insufficiency. South Med J 1997; 90: 240-2
- Boivin MA, Kahn SR. Symptomatic hypocalcemia from oral sodium phosphate: a report of two cases. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93: 2577-9
- Tan HL, Liew QY, Loo S, et al. Severe hyperphosphatemia and associated electrolyte and metabolic derangement following the administration of sodium phosphate for bowel preparation. Anesthesia 2002; 57: 478-83
- Ullah N, Yeh R, Ehrinpreis M. Fatal hyperphosphatemia from a phosphosoda bowel preparation. J Clin Gastroenterol 2002; 34: 457-8
- McConnell TH. Fatal hypocalcemia from phosphate absorption from laxative preparation. JAMA 1971; 216: 147-8
- Fine A, Patterson J. Severe hyperphosphatemia following phosphate administration for bowel preparation in patients with renal failure: two cases and a review of the literature. Am J Kidney Dis 1997; 29: 103-5
- Mackey AC, Shaffer D, Prizont R, et al. Seizure associated with the use of Visicol for colonoscopy [letter]. N Engl J Med 2002; 346: 2095
- Chan A, Depew W, Vanner S. Use of oral sodium phosphate colonic lavage solution by Canadian colonscopists: pitfalls and complications. Can J Gastroenterol 1997; 11: 334-8

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Jack A. DiPalma*, Gastroenterology Academic Offices, University of South Alabama, Knollwood Pavillion, 5600 Girby Road, Mobile, AL 36693, USA.

E-mail: jdipalma@usouthal.edu